
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

MILWAUKEE DIVISION 
 

MARY SCHNEIDER, Individually and on Behalf 
of All Others Similarly Situated, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 vs. 
 
PROFESSIONAL PLACEMENT SERVICES 
LLC and CAPITAL ONE N.A., 
 
  Defendants. 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)

Case No.: 17-cv-1734 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
 
 
 
Jury Trial Demanded 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This class action seeks redress for collection practices that violate the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. (the “FDCPA”) and Wisconsin Consumer Act, 

Ch. 421-427, Wis. Stats. (“WCA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The court has jurisdiction to grant the relief sought by the Plaintiff pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337, and 1367. Venue in this District is proper in that 

Defendant directed its collection efforts into the District. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff Mary Schneider is an individual who resides in the Eastern District of 

Wisconsin (Milwaukee County). 

4. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), in that 

Defendants sought to collect from Plaintiff a debt allegedly incurred for personal, family or 

household purposes, namely a personal credit card account. 
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5. Plaintiff is also a “customer” as defined in the WCA, Wis. Stat. § 421.301(17), in 

that the alleged debt Defendants sought to collect from Plaintiff was incurred as a result of a 

consumer transaction. 

6. Defendant Professional Placement Services LLC (“PPS”) is a domestic limited 

liability company with its principal place of business located at 272 North 12th Street, 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233. 

7. PPS does substantial business in Wisconsin. 

8. PPS is engaged in the business of a collection agency, using the mails and 

telephone to collect consumer debts originally owed to others. 

9. PPS is licensed as a “Collection Agency” under Wis. Stat. § 218.04 and Wis. 

Admin. Code Ch. DFI-BKG 74. 

10. PPS is engaged in the business of collecting debts owed to others and incurred for 

personal, family or household purposes. It is a debt collector as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a and 

Wis. Stat § 427.103(3). 

11. Upon information and belief, Defendant Capital One N.A. (“Capital One”) issues 

and administers Kohl’s brand credit card accounts.  Capital One is a national bank with its 

principal place of business located at 1680 Capital One Drive, McLean, Virginia 22102. 

12. Capital One does substantial business in Wisconsin. 

13. Wis. Stat. § 427.103(3) defines debt collector as: “any person engaging, directly 

or indirectly, in debt collection, and includes any person who sells, or offers to sell, forms 

represented to be a collection system, device or scheme, intended or calculated to be used to 

collect claims. The term does not include a printing company engaging in the printing and sale of 

forms.” (emphasis added). 
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14. Wis. Stat § 427.103(2) states: “Debt collection” means any action, conduct or 

practice of soliciting claims for collection or in the collection of claims owed or due or alleged to 

be owed or due a merchant by a customer.” 

15. Capital One is a “debt collector” under Wisconsin law, in that it collects consumer 

debts owed to itself, both directly and indirectly through collection agencies. 

16. Capital One is a “merchant” as defined in the WCA, as the alleged debt arose 

from use of Plaintiff’s consumer credit account. Wis. Stat. § 421.301(25) (“The term [merchant] 

includes but is not limited to a seller, lessor, manufacturer, creditor, arranger of credit and any 

assignee of or successor to such person.”) 

17. The Western District of Wisconsin has noted: “Unlike the FDCPA, the Wisconsin 

Consumer Act does not provide exceptions to its general definition of a debt collector.”  

Hartman v. Meridian Fin. Servs., 191 F. Supp. 2d 1031, 1048 (W.D. Wis. 2002). 

18. The Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions has likewise designated 

merchants and creditors as “Debt Collectors” under the WCA: 
 

Anyone attempting to collect a debt arising from a consumer credit transaction in 
Wisconsin, whether a merchant doing its own debt collecting or a third-party debt 
collector, must follow Wisconsin’s debt collection law, Ch. 427, Wis. Stats. This 
is an important point because many merchants collecting debt owed directly to 
them mistakenly believe that they are exempt from Wisconsin’s debt collection 
law because they are not included within the definition of “debt collector” under 
the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

 
https://www.wdfi.org/wca/business_guidance/creditors/debt_collection/ 
  

19. Capital One uses third-party debt collection agencies, including PPS, to collect 

consumer debts.  Capital One, directly or indirectly, is a “debt collector” under this arrangement. 

Wis. Stat. § 427.103(3). 
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20. Any company meeting the definition of a “debt collector” (here, Capital One) is 

vicariously liable for the actions of a second company collecting debts on its behalf.  Janetos v. 

Fulton Friedman & Gullace, LLP, 825 F.3d 317, 325-26 (7th Cir. 2016) (assignees who are 

“debt collectors” are responsible for the actions of those collecting on their behalf); citing 

Pollice, 225 F.3d at 404-05.  

FACTS 

PPS’ September 2016 Letter 

21. On or about September 23, 2016, Capital One mailed an account statement to 

Plaintiff regarding an alleged debt, allegedly owed to Capital One and associated with Plaintiff’s 

“Kohl’s” credit card account with an account number ending in 8486. A copy of this account 

statement is attached to this complaint as Exhibit A. 

22. Upon information and belief, Exhibit A is a form account statement, generated by 

computer, and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

23. Exhibit A states: 
 

 
 
Exhibit A. 
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24. Exhibit A states that, as of September 23, 2016, Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 

had a “New Balance” of $318.77, with an “Amount Past Due” of $142.00, a “Payment Due 

Date” of October 20, 2016, and a “Minimum Payment Due” of $187.00. 

25. On or about the same day Capital One mailed Plaintiff Exhibit A, September 23, 

2016 Capital One also mailed Plaintiff a debt collection letter regarding the same alleged debt, 

allegedly owed to Capital One.  A copy of this debt collection letter is attached to this complaint 

as Exhibit B. 

26. Upon information and belief, Exhibit B is a form letter, generated by computer, 

and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

27. Upon information and belief, Exhibit B is a form debt collection letter, generated 

by computer, and used by Capital One to attempt to collect alleged debts. 

28. Exhibit B contains the following: 
 

 

Exhibit B. 

29. Exhibit B also contains the following: 

 

 

Exhibit B. 

30. Exhibit B states that, as of September 23, 2016, Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 

had a “past due amount of $187.00 [which] remains unpaid.”  Exhibit B. 
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31. Exhibit B further states that the creditor would not declare the entire balance due 

as long as Plaintiff paid “the overdue amount within 30 days of receiving this letter.”  Exhibit B. 

32. On or about, September 28, 2016 PPS mailed Plaintiff a debt collection letter 

regarding the same alleged debt, allegedly owed to Capital One.  A copy of this letter is attached 

to this complaint as Exhibit C. 

33. Upon information and belief, Exhibit C is a form letter, generated by computer, 

and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

34. Upon information and belief, Exhibit C is a form debt collection letter, generated 

by computer, and used by PPS to attempt to collect alleged debts. 

35. Exhibit C was the first letter that PPS sent to Plaintiff with respect to Plaintiff’s 

alleged Capital One debt. 

36. Exhibit C contains the validation notice that the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g, 

requires that debt collectors send debtors along with their initial communications: 
 

 

Exhibit C. 

37. Exhibit C also states:  
 

 

Exhibit C. 
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38. Exhibit C, mailed on September 28, 2016, just a few days after Capital One 

mailed Exhibits A and B to Plaintiff, states the “Balance” but does not state that Plaintiff could 

return her account to a current status by making a minimum payment. 

39. Exhibit C, thus, represents that the debt had been accelerated and the full balance 

was due when Exhibit C was mailed.  

40. PPS’ representation in Exhibit C that Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 had a 

“Balance” of $318.77 is false, deceptive, misleading, and unconscionable. 

41. According to Exhibit A, as of September 28, 2016, when PPS mailed Exhibit C, 

Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 had an “Amount Past Due” of $142.00, a “Minimum Payment 

Due” of $187.00, and a “Payment Due Date” of October 20, 2016.  Exhibit A. 

42. According to Exhibit B, as of September 28, 2016, when PPS mailed Exhibit C, 

Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 had a “past due amount of $187.00,” and the balance of the 

account would not be accelerated for at least 30 days.  Exhibit B. 

43. The unsophisticated consumer cannot determine whether the debt had been 

accelerated or not, or how much debt is actually due as of the date of Exhibit C.  Exhibit C states 

that the “Balance” is $318.77 without stating an amount “due” while Exhibits A and B seek only 

a minimum payment of $187.00.  See Machnik v. RSI Enters., 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 160772, at 

*6 (E.D. Wis. Sept. 29, 2017) (“In the context of a debt, ‘owing’ an amount is distinguishable 

from the amount ‘due.’ “). 

PPS’ December 2016 Letter 

44. Upon information and belief, on or about December 20, 2016, Capital One mailed 

Plaintiff an account statement that represented that the balance of Plaintiff’s account ending in 

8486 had not yet been accelerated. 

Case 2:17-cv-01734   Filed 12/13/17   Page 7 of 19   Document 1



 
 
8 

45. On or about, December 22, 2016 PPS mailed Plaintiff a debt collection letter 

regarding the same alleged debt, allegedly owed to Capital One.  A copy of this letter is attached 

to this complaint as Exhibit D. 

46. Upon information and belief, Exhibit D is a form letter, generated by computer, 

and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

47. Upon information and belief, Exhibit D is a form debt collection letter, generated 

by computer, and used by PPS to attempt to collect alleged debts. 

48. Exhibit D states:  
 

 

Exhibit D. 
 

49. Exhibit D states that, as of December 22, 2016, Plaintiff’s Capital One account 

ending in 8486, had a “Balance” of $442.57 and does not state that Plaintiff could return her 

account to a current status by making a minimum payment. 

50. Exhibit D, thus, represents that the debt had been accelerated and the full balance 

was due when Exhibit D was mailed.  

51. On or about December 25, 2016, Capital One mailed an account statement to 

Plaintiff regarding an alleged debt, allegedly owed to Capital One and associated with Plaintiff’s 

“Kohl’s” credit card account with an account number ending in 8486. A copy of this account 

statement is attached to this complaint as Exhibit E. 

52. Upon information and belief, Exhibit E is a form account statement, generated by 

computer, and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

53. Exhibit E states: 
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Exhibit E. 

54. Exhibit E states that, as of December 25, 2016, Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 

had a “New Balance” of $450.18, with an “Amount Past Due” of $280.00, a “Payment Due 

Date” of January 20, 2017, and a “Minimum Payment Due” of $328.00. 

55. PPS’ representation in Exhibit D that Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 had a 

“Balance” of $442.57 is false, deceptive and misleading. 

56. Upon information and belief, as of December 22, 2016, when PPS mailed Exhibit 

D, the balance of Plaintiff’s account ending in 8486 had not been accelerated. 

57. The unsophisticated consumer cannot determine whether the debt had been 

accelerated or not, or how much debt is actually due as of the date of Exhibits D and E.  Exhibit 

D states that the “Balance” is $442.57 without stating an amount “due” while Exhibit E seeks 

only a minimum payment of $328.00.  See Machnik v. RSI Enters., 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

160772, at *6 (E.D. Wis. Sept. 29, 2017) (“In the context of a debt, ‘owing’ an amount is 

distinguishable from the amount ‘due.’”). 
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58. PPS and Capital One both represented the amount of the debt in a way that was 

confusing to the unsophisticated consumer and/or misrepresented the amount of the debt. 

59. Upon information and belief, PPS and Capital One work in a scripted process to 

collect Capital One debts such as Plaintiff’s. 

60. Upon information and belief, PPS is fully aware of the contents and 

representations in Exhibits A, B, and E.  

61. Upon information and belief, PPS is fully aware that Capital One sends account 

statements like Exhibits A, B, and E to consumers around the same time PPS letters in the form 

of Exhibits C and/or D. 

62. Upon information and belief, PPS is fully aware that its letter is sent during 

account billing cycles wherein Capital One has sent a statement to consumers seeking a 

“minimum payment” and not representing that the entire balance is due. 

63. Plaintiff was confused by Exhibits A-E. 

64. The unsophisticated consumer would be confused by Exhibits A-E. 

65. Plaintiff had to spend time and money investigating Exhibits A-E. 

66. Plaintiff had to take time to obtain and meet with counsel, including traveling to 

counsel’s office by car and its related expenses, including but not limited to the cost of gasoline 

and mileage, to advise Plaintiff on the consequences of Exhibits A-E. 

The FDCPA 

67. The FDCPA states that its purpose, in part, is “to eliminate abusive debt 

collection practices by debt collectors.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e). It is designed to protect 

consumers from unscrupulous collectors, whether or not there is a valid debt. Mace v. Van Ru 

Credit Corp., 109 F.3d 338 (7th Cir. 1997); Baker v. G.C. Services Corp., 677 F.2d 775, 777 (9th 

Cir. 1982); McCartney v. First City Bank, 970 F.2d 45, 47 (5th Cir. 1992). The FDCPA broadly 
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prohibits unfair or unconscionable collection methods; conduct which harasses, oppresses or 

abuses any debtor; and any false, deceptive or misleading statements in connection with the 

collection of a debt; it also requires debt collectors to give debtors certain information. 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1692d, 1692e, 1692f and 1692g. 

68. The Seventh Circuit has held that whether a debt collector’s conduct violates the 

FDCPA should be judged from the standpoint of an “unsophisticated consumer.” Avila v. 

Rubin, 84 F.3d 222, 227 (7th Cir. 1996); Gammon v. GC Services, LP, 27 F.3d 1254, 1257 (7th 

Cir. 1994). The standard is an objective one—whether the plaintiffs or any class members were 

misled is not an element of a cause of action. Bartlett v. Heibl, 128 F.3d 497, 499 (7th Cir. 

1997). “The question is not whether these plaintiffs were deceived or misled, but rather 

whether an unsophisticated consumer would have been misled.” Beattie v. D.M. Collections 

Inc., 754 F. Supp. 383, 392 (D. Del. 1991). 

69. Because it is part of the Consumer Credit Protection Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et 

seq., the FDCPA should be liberally construed in favor of the consumer to effectuate its 

purposes. Cirkot v. Diversified Fin. Services, Inc., 839 F. Supp. 941, 944 (D. Conn. 1993). 
 

The [Consumer Credit Protection] Act is remedial in nature, designed to 
remedy what Congressional hearings revealed to be unscrupulous and 
predatory creditor practices throughout the nation. Since the statute is 
remedial in nature, its terms must be construed in liberal fashion if the 
underlying Congressional purpose is to be effectuated. 

N.C. Freed Co. v. Board of Governors, 473 F.2d 1210, 1214 (2d Cir. 1973). 

70. Statutory damages are recoverable for violations, whether or not the consumer 

proves actual damages. Baker, 677 F.2d at 780-1; Woolfolk v. Van Ru Credit Corp., 783 F. Supp. 

724, 727 and n. 3 (D. Conn. 1990); Riveria v. MAB Collections, Inc., 682 F. Supp. 174, 177 

(W.D.N.Y. 1988); Kuhn v. Account Control Tech., 865 F. Supp. 1443, 1450 (D. Nev. 1994); In 

re Scrimpsher, 17 B.R. 999, 1016-7 (Bankr. N.D.N.Y. 1982); In re Littles, 90 B.R. 669, 680 

Case 2:17-cv-01734   Filed 12/13/17   Page 11 of 19   Document 1



 
 

12 

(Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1988), aff’d as modified sub nom. Crossley v. Lieberman, 90 B.R. 682 (E.D. Pa. 

1988), aff’d, 868 F.2d 566 (3d Cir. 1989).  

71. The FDCPA creates substantive rights for consumers; violations cause injury to 

consumers, and such injuries are concrete and particularized. Pogorzelski v. Patenaude & Felix 

APC, No. 16-C-1330, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89678 *9 (E.D. Wis. June 12, 2017) (“A plaintiff 

who receives misinformation from a debt collector has suffered the type of injury the FDCPA 

was intended to protect against.”); Spuhler v. State Collection Servs., No. 16-CV-1149, 2017 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 177631 (E.D. Wis. Oct. 26, 2017) (“As in Pogorzelski, the Spuhlers’ 

allegations that the debt collection letters sent by State Collection contained false representations 

of the character, amount, or legal status of a debt in violation of their rights under the FDCPA 

sufficiently pleads a concrete injury-in-fact for purposes of standing.”); Bock v. Pressler & 

Pressler, LLP, No. 11-7593, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 81058 *21 (D.N.J. May 25, 2017) (“through 

[s]ection 1692e of the FDCPA, Congress established ‘an enforceable right to truthful information 

concerning’ debt collection practices, a decision that ‘was undoubtedly influenced by 

congressional awareness that the intentional provision of misinformation’ related to such 

practices, ‘contribute[s] to the number of personal bankruptcies, to marital instability, to the loss 

of jobs, and to invasions of individual privacy,”); Quinn v. Specialized Loan Servicing, LLC, No. 

16 C 2021, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107299 *8-13 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 11, 2016) (rejecting challenge 

to Plaintiff’s standing based upon alleged FDCPA statutory violation); Lane v. Bayview Loan 

Servicing, LLC, No. 15 C 10446, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89258 *9-10 (N.D. Ill. July 11, 2016) 

(“When a federal statute is violated, and especially when Congress has created a cause of action 

for its violation, by definition Congress has created a legally protected interest that it deems 

important enough for a lawsuit.”); Church v. Accretive Health, Inc., No. 15-15708, 2016 U.S. 

App. LEXIS 12414 *7-11 (11th Cir. July 6, 2016) (same); see also Mogg v. Jacobs, No. 15-CV-
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1142-JPG-DGW, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33229, 2016 WL 1029396, at *5 (S.D. Ill. Mar. 15, 

2016) (“Congress does have the power to enact statutes creating legal rights, the invasion of 

which creates standing, even though no injury would exist without the statute,” (quoting Sterk v. 

Redbox Automated Retail, LLC, 770 F.3d 618, 623 (7th Cir. 2014)). For this reason, and to 

encourage consumers to bring FDCPA actions, Congress authorized an award of statutory 

damages for violations. 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a). 

72. Moreover, Congress has explicitly described the FDCPA as regulating “abusive 

practices” in debt collection. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692(a) – 1692(e). Any person who receives a debt 

collection letter containing a violation of the FDCPA is a victim of abusive practices. See 15 

U.S.C. §§ 1692(e) (“It is the purpose of this subchapter to eliminate abusive debt collection 

practices by debt collectors, to insure that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive 

debt collection practices are not competitively disadvantaged, and to promote consistent State 

action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses”). 

73. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e prohibits “any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or 

means in connection with the collection of any debt.” 

74. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) specifically prohibits: “The false representation of — the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” 

75. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) specifically prohibits the “use of any false representation 

or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.” 

76. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f generally prohibits a debt collector from using “unfair or 

unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.” 

77. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1) specifically prohibits the “collection of any amount 

(including any interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the principal obligation) unless such 

amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” 
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78. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) states: 
 
a) Notice of debt; contents  

 
Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer in connection 
with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the following 
information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer has paid 
the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing—  

 
(1) the amount of the debt; 
 

The WCA 

79. The Wisconsin Consumer Act (“WCA”) was enacted to protect consumers against 

unfair, deceptive, and unconscionable business practices and to encourage development of fair 

and economically sound practices in consumer transactions. Wis. Stat. § 421.102(2). 

80. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has favorably cited authority finding that the 

WCA “goes further to protect consumer interests than any other such legislation in the country,” 

and is “probably the most sweeping consumer credit legislation yet enacted in any state.” Kett v. 

Community Credit Plan, Inc., 228 Wis. 2d 1, 18 n.15, 596 N.W.2d 786 (1999) (citations 

omitted). 

81. To further these goals, the Act’s protections must be “liberally construed and 

applied.” Wis. Stat. § 421.102(1); see also § 425.301.   

82. “The basic purpose of the remedies set forth in Chapter 425, Stats., is to induce 

compliance with the WCA and thereby promote its underlying objectives.”  First Wisconsin 

Nat’l Bank v. Nicolaou, 113 Wis. 2d 524, 533, 335 N.W.2d 390 (1983).  Thus, private actions 

under the WCA are designed to both benefit consumers whose rights have been violated and also 

competitors of the violators, whose competitive advantage should not be diminished because of 

their compliance with the law. 
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83. To carry out this intent, the WCA provides Wisconsin consumers with an array of 

protections and legal remedies. The Act contains significant and sweeping restrictions on the 

activities of those attempting to collect debts. See Wis. Stats. § 427.104.   

84. The Act limits the amounts and types of additional fees that may be charged to 

consumers in conjunction with transactions. Wis. Stats. § 422.202(1). The Act also provides 

injured consumers with causes of action for class-wide statutory and actual damages and 

injunctive remedies against defendants on behalf of all customers who suffer similar injuries. See 

Wis. Stats. §§ 426.110(1); § 426.110(4)(e). Finally, “a customer may not waive or agree to 

forego rights or benefits under [the Act].”  Wis. Stat. § 421.106(1). 

85. Consumers’ WCA claims under Wis. Stat. § 427.104(1) are analyzed using the 

same methods as claims under the FDCPA. Indeed, the WCA itself requires that the court 

analyze the WCA “in accordance with the policies underlying a federal consumer credit 

protection act,” including the FDCPA. Wis. Stat. § 421.102(1).  

86. Further, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that WCA claims relating to debt 

collection are to be analyzed under the “unsophisticated consumer” standard. Brunton v. Nuvell 

Credit Corp., 785 N.W.2d 302, 314-15. In Brunton, the Wisconsin Supreme Court explicitly 

adopted and followed the “unsophisticated consumer” standard, citing and discussing Gammon 

v. GC Servs. Ltd. P’ship, 27 F.3d 1254, 1257 (7th Cir. 1994). Id. 

87. Wis. Stat. § 427.104(1)(g) states that a debt collector may not: “Communicate 

with the customer . . . in such a manner as can reasonably be expected to threaten or harass the 

customer.” 

88. Wis. Stat. § 427.104(1)(h) states that a debt collector may not: “Engage in other 

conduct which can reasonably be expected to threaten or harass the customer . . . .”  Wis. Admin. 
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Code § DFI-Bkg 74.16(9) defines such “other conduct” as “including conduct which violates the 

Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.”  

89. Wis. Stat. § 427.104(1)(j) states that a debt collector may not: “Claim, or attempt 

or threaten to enforce a right with knowledge or reason to know that the right does not exist.” 

90. Wis. Stat. § 427.104(1)(L) states that a debt collector may not: “Threaten action 

against the customer unless like action is taken in regular course or is intended with respect to 

the particular debt.” 

 
COUNT I  – FDCPA 

91. Count I is brought against Defendant PPS. 

92. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

93. Prior to sending Exhibit C, PPS was aware that Capital One had sent Plaintiff 

Exhibits A and B, which stated that the balance of Plaintiff’s account had not yet been 

accelerated. 

94. Prior to sending Exhibit D, PPS was aware that Capital One had sent Plaintiff an 

account statement in the form of Exhibits A and E, which stated that the balance of Plaintiff’s 

account had not yet been accelerated. 

95. PPS represented to Plaintiff that Plaintiff’s Capital One account had been 

accelerated by seeking to collect the entire balance and not just the amount actually due. 

96. PPS misrepresented the amount, character, and legal status of the debt it was 

collecting. 
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97. PPS’ attempts to collect the entire balance of class members’ Capital One 

accounts were false, misleading and confusing representations, and were also an unfair and 

unconscionable means of collecting a debt. 

98. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(A), 1692e(10), 1692(f), 

1692f(1), and 1692g(a)(1). 

COUNT II -- WCA 

99. Count II is brought against both Defendants. 

100. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

101. In Exhibits A and B, Capital One represented to Plaintiff that the balance of her 

account had not yet been accelerated. 

102. Nonetheless, Capital One contracted with PPS to send Exhibit C, which stated the 

whole of Plaintiff’s account was past due and attempted to collect the entire balance as though it 

had been properly accelerated. 

103. In fact, when PPS sent Exhibit C, PPS knew that Capital One had just sent 

Plaintiff an account statement representing that her Capital One debt had not been accelerated. 

104. On or about December 20, 2016, Capital One represented to Plaintiff that the 

balance of her account had not yet been accelerated. 

105. Nonetheless, Capital One contracted with PPS to send Exhibit D, which stated the 

whole of Plaintiff’s account was past due and attempted to collect the entire balance as though it 

had been properly accelerated. 

106. Defendants violated Wis. Stat. §§ 427.104(1)(g), 427.104(1)(h), 427.104(1)(j), 

and 427.104(1)(L). 
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CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

107. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of two Classes. 

108. Class I (“Initial Debt Collection Letter Class”) consists of (a) all natural persons 

in the State of Wisconsin (b) who were sent an account statement by Capital One in the form of 

Exhibit A, (c) and subsequently were sent a letter in the form of Exhibit C, (d) for an alleged 

debt incurred for personal, family or household purposes, (e) between November 16, 2015 and 

November 16, 2017, (f) that were not returned by the postal service. 

109. Class II (“Follow-Up Debt Collection Letter Class”) consists of (a) all natural 

persons in the State of Wisconsin (b) who were sent an account statement by Capital One in the 

form of Exhibit A, (c) and subsequently were sent a letter in the form of Exhibit D, (d) for an 

alleged debt incurred for personal, family or household purposes, (e) ) between November 16, 

2016 and November 16, 2017, (f) that were not returned by the postal service. 

110. Each Class is so numerous that joinder is impracticable. Upon information and 

belief, there are more than 50 members of the Class. 

111. There are questions of law and fact common to the members of each class, which 

common questions predominate over any questions that affect only individual class members.  

The predominant common question is whether Exhibits A-E violate the FDCPA and/or the 

WCA. 

112. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class members.  All are based on 

the same factual and legal theories. 

113. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the Class members. 

Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in consumer credit and debt collection abuse cases. 
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114. A class action is superior to other alternative methods of adjudicating this dispute.   

Individual cases are not economically feasible. 

JURY DEMAND 

115. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and 

the Class and against Defendants for: 

(a) actual damages; 

(b) statutory damages;   

(c) attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit; and 

(d) such other or further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated:  December 13, 2017 

 
  ADEMI & O’REILLY, LLP 
 
  By: /s/ John D. Blythin   
  John D. Blythin (SBN 1046105) 
  Mark A. Eldridge (SBN 1089944) 
  Jesse Fruchter (SBN 1097673) 
  Ben J. Slatky (SBN 1106892) 
  3620 East Layton Avenue 
  Cudahy, WI 53110 
  (414) 482-8000 
  (414) 482-8001 (fax) 
  jblythin@ademilaw.com 
  meldridge@ademilaw.com 
  jfruchter@ademilaw.com 
  bslatky@ademilaw.com 
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ICOLS Manage your account ['oboe:
Page 1 ol i

Chu CP My Kohl's Charge al Account Nurnbei =ABCwww, kohls.00m

i. ACCOUNT SUMMARY. PAYMENT INFORMATION;
Previous Balance 5 276.56 New Balance 318.77
Payments and Other Credits 0-00 Payment DUE Date 10/2012016
Purchases -F 0.00 Minimum Payment Due 187.00

Amount Past Due 142.00
Fees 4- 37.00 To Avoid Interest Charge Pay 318.77
Interest Charges 5•19
New Balance 318.77 Late payment Warning: If we do not receive your itaniiraini payrnenl

Dy iho dale listed above, you may have lo pay a Isle iee of up la $37

Opening/Closing Date 08/26/2016 0912312016 Mini inurn Payment Warning: If you inake only lhe ink tilitnIT payrbenl
Days in Billing Cycle 211 each pound. you will pay irioro in interest arid it will lake you longer In

Total Credit tine $300 Pay off yourbalancei:or exair Oa:
Available Credit None. If you make no addllional "You mil pay ell One balance And you will arta up:

ettalges using this carol and :shown on Ints.sielainent in Pay nu an estimated
c.:^cli nirtillli you pay... about... total iv...Questions.? Only Ilm

t ninitnum payment. 7 ittortths.; C337 .(ttt.Click on My Kohl's Charge at Kohls.com or

Cali Customer Service1-855-5$4-5747
If you would like hfoutiaLion ghoul credit Counseling SePtriCes, calfSunday 10:00 AM to 11:00 PM (EST) 1-877-199.-04Er.Monday-Saturday 000 AM to 11:00 PM (EST)

Automated service is available 4,oart,

:ACCOUNT ACTIVITY
Transaction Date Transaction Description Amount

Fees
09/20 LATE FEE $37.00

TOTAL FEES FOR THIS PERIOD $37.00
Interest Charged

09/23 INTEREST CHARGE ON PURCHASES 55.19
TOTAL INTEREST CHARGED FOR THIS PERIOD

2016 Totals Year-To-Date
Total fees charged in 2016 5162.00
Total interest charged in 2016 $27, 081

I-INTEREST CHARGES
Your Annual Percentage Rate (APR) is Me arinval interest rate on your account.

Type of Balance Annuai Percentage Rate (APR) Balance Subject to Interest Charges
Interest Rate

Purchases 22.15%(V) $291.60 $5.19
nn= Vartante Rate

[I(OHL`S MVC SUMMARY
Currenl Kohrs Purchases $280.52 You are only $319.00 away from achieving MVC Status!

Spend a total of $600 by December 31, 2016 to become
a Most Valued Customei (IMVC) and receive even more

exclusive offers!

IMPORTANT NEWS

KOI IL'S CARES. WE HAVE NOT RECEIVED THE NECESSARY PAYMENT FOR SEVERAL
MONTHS. THERE ARE PAYMENT OPTiONS AVAILABLE TO YOLL PLEASE CALL ONE

OF OUR ACCOUNT SPECIALISTS AT 500-575-6457. WE ARE HERE TO HELP

YOUR ACCOUNT IS CURRENTLY CLOSED.

NOTICE: SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Name or Address Chaogo?

---4-811Would you like to receive e-mt..i: si.es not if ication? Account Number
Check box and mile informatior on rcverss side. Due Date Oct 20, 2016

1111111111111111111V11111111111r111111111111111111111] 11 New Balance
Total Payment Now Due

$318.77
$187.00.

Mali this portion with your payment
58Kohl's Payment Center

PO BOX 2983
MILWAUKEE WI 53201-2983

Amount PaidHIThIntrIlItTP.Oull'OPInItul"'IdiddllItIPIII

NOTE: Do notnnehl cnish or 0111 cards.141 I'd "I I I I ii.1")I I 11 'rl'cl ri I/1I I 16'1 1'1 lin Please make chock uiflyflmmeIoienllrerlus Dooms
90024196/ t kl 9.399 106481692704041 P
MARY L SCHNEIDER
2410 W BRIAR LAKE WAY APT 3B
OAK CREEK WI 53154-8187
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KOHLS
P.O. Box 3084
Milwaukee WI 53201-3120

G109

MARY L SCHNEIDER 37790 09/23/2016
2410 W BRIAR LAKE WAY APT 3B
OAK CREEK WI 53154-8187

II II 'Will

Re: Kohl's Credit Card Account XXX-XXX-8486

Dear Mary I. Schneider,

Our records indicate that a past due amount of S 1 87, 00 remains unpaid on your Kohl's
Department Store Credit Account referenced ahove. Your prompt payment of this past due
amount is imperative.

As you are aware, you are required to make monthly payments on your account. If you don't
pay the overdue amount within 30 days of receiving this letter, we may declare the entire
balance due without further notice.

Please send a check or money order (payable to Kohl's) in the amount of S187.00 to the address
listed below. DO NM' SEND CASH. To ensure proper credit, please write your account
number on your check or money order. If you would like to pay your account online, simply
log on to kohls.com and follow the link for "My Kohl's Charge." Otherwise, for your
convenience you may call 1-888-768-5560 to make your payment by telephone.

Kohl's Payment Center
P 0 Rox 2983
Milwaukee, WI 53201-2933

'ro make payment arrangements or ask any questions you may have regarding this matter,
please contact Kohl's Credit Department at 1-888-768-5560. We are available Sunday through
Saturday, 7:00am-10:00pm Central Time.

THIS IS A ITTTER TO COLL.ECT A DEBT OWED, IF YOU DISPUTE THE VAI ITY
OF THE Al :U(RH) DEHF, PI EASE CoNTAc.',T THE CREDff DEPARrrMENT
iMMEDIMELY AND WE WILL VERIFY YOUR DEM. ANY INFORMATION WILL RE
UTIII/FA) FOR THAT PURPOSE.

Sincerely,

Collections Department
Kohl's Risk Management Operations
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YIClUC2AB3

HI 111111 NI liii III! 111 II 11 111 III
Pr LRAOCFEEmsES N L

PO Box 612
Milwaukee WI 53201-062 I SERVICES, LLC
ADDRESS SERVICE REQUESTED

888-828-5368

PPS Account #:.7211September 2g, 2016
Balance: $318.77

1111"11.1".".. II "...11'11-1-111
0008120024LIOC135-50205&3154815fl2-1YA1-Y 1C, DC2AS3 frilEi

11111 II 1111 1111..11 II 1 1 II 1 II II111_111.1_ 11111_ 11_1_111_11_1_111._NI 92(1
MARY L SCHNI-IDER &.

Kohl's Payment Center

2410 W Briar Lake Way Apt 3B 1...z t PO Box 2983
Oak Creek WI 53154-X18'1 Milwaukee WI 53201-2983

***Detach Upper Portion And Return With Payment
926-ON PPSV10-801-9/30/12

Creditor: Capital One, N.A. MEMBER
Re: KOHL'S DEPARTMENT STORES INC
Client Acct XXXXXX8486 52
Balance: $318.77

M•R tri"ti 5Rs

COLLECTION NOTICE
ra,ouilliff1H encmhcr

This letter will serve to inform you that your delinquent account has been placed with Professional Placement
Services, LLC (PPS), PPS will help you resolve this debt!!

The records provided to us show that your account is delinquent. While the amount above is your total balance as of
the date of this letter, the total balance on the day you pay may be greater as a result of fees and interest that
continue to accrue.

Please call 888-828-5368 or 414-224-3581 to arrange payment or if any of the above information is incorrect.

This is an attempt to collect a debt by a debt collector. Any information obtained will be used for that purpose. Unless
you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion
thereof, this office will assume this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days from receiving this
notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this office will obtain verification of the debt or
obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. If you request this office in writingwithin 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor,
if different from the current creditor."

This account is owned by Capital One, N.A.

This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Department of Financial
Institutions, www.wdfi.orq.

Professional Placement Services, LLC Collection Services Division
272 N 12th Street PO Box 612 Milwaukee WI 53201-0612 888-828-5368 414-224-3581

Office Hours: M-Th 8AM-8PM. Fri 8AM-5PM, Sat 8AM-Noon

7

.11=
To make a payment by mail, tear off the top portion of this letter and place it in the envelope with a check or money
order payable to Kohl's Payment Center. Do not remit cash. Put your client account number(s) XXXXXX8486 on the
front of your money order. Stamp and return to the address listed.

Pay by credit card: Go to http://paypps.solvemvdebt.com. Use your PPS account number7211 as your
user ID and.872 as your password_
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Y1CC7151-82

111111 111111111111111111 1111111111111111111111111111111111111 PROFESS IONAL
PO Box 61, PLACEMENT
Milwaukcc WI 53201-0612 SERVICES, LLC

ADDRESS SERVI('E REQUESTH) 888-828-5368

PPS Account 11:M721 1
December 22, 2016 Balance: $442.57

0011812%2400136307B95:1154$187.32.1YAl--Y1U.321t, 1-b1, 2741 111111111111111111 1111 11 11 1 1 11 1 11 111 IA 111.......1111__11111_.11_1_111__11_1__111__
802 2741
MARY LSCHNEIDLR La: Kohl's Payment Center

PO Box 2983
2410 W Briar Lake Way Apt ill3
Oak Creek WI 53154-8187 Mi lwaukee WI 53201-2983

Detach Upper Portion And Return With Payment
2741-ONIPPSV1 0-802-1106110

Creditor: Capital One, N.A. MEMBER

Re: KOHL'S DEPARTMENT STORES INC 21,Client Acct XXXXXX8486
Balance: $442.57 A%11 NV MA I (III I f MKS

COLLECTION NOTICE, rution rqc on), f,

This letter will serve to inform you that your delinquent account has been placed with Professional Placernent
Services, LLC (PPS). PPS is the collection agency acting on behalf of our client far the above referenced debt. PPS is
a collection agency that is willing to work with you to resolve this debt. Call PPS today!

The records provided to us show that your account is delinquent. While the amount above is your total balance as of
the date of this letter, the total balance on the day you pay may be greater as a result of fees and interest that
continue to accrue.

We have already sent you a notice regarding this debt, yet we have not received payment. Please call PPS to
schedule payment or if the above information is not correct.

Please call 888-828-5368 or 414-224-3581

This is an attempt to collect a debt by a debt collector. Any information obtained will be used for that purpose.

This account is owned by Capital One, N.A.

This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Department of Financial
Institutions_ www.wdfi.org.

Professional Placement Serv1ces, LLC Collection Services Division
272 N 12th Street PO Box 612 Milwaukee WI 5320 1 -061 2 888-828-5368 414-224-3581

Office Hours: M-Th 8AM-8PM, Fri 8AM-5PM, Sat 8AM-Noon

i
VISA14.-

1::::::"'
.-1.
96
4' To make a payment by mail, tear off the top portion of this letter and place it in the envelope with a check or money
Li order payable to Kohl's Payment Center. Do not remit cash. Put your client account number(s) XXXXXX8486 on the

front of your money order. Stamp and return to the address listed.

Paya6redit card: Go to http://paypos.solvemydebtoom. Use your PPS account nurnber=7211 as your user ID
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ICOIllLS Manage your account online:
Page 1 of 1

Click en kly Kehrs Chai gR ei Account Nurnber=13-406W'Anfv,lierlikoerri

ACCOUNT SUMMARY 1 i PAYMENT INFORMATION
Previous Balance 405.57 New Balance 450.18Payments and Other Credits 0.00 Payment Due Date 01/2012017Purchases + 0•00 Minimuni Payment Due 328.00

Amount Past Due 280.00Fees + 37.00 To Avoid Interest Charge Pay 450.18Interest Charges. + 7.61
New Balance 450.18 Late Payment Warning: if we do not receive your mlnirrium paymentby the dale listed above, you may have to pay a late tee of up to $37.
Opening/Closing Date 11/25/2016 12(2512016 mini mere Payment Warning: V you nnakc only the ininirsuin payrikentDays in Billing CycJe 31 each periee, you wrli pay more in !Merest and d will take you longer lo

$300 gray oil your balance. For example:Total Credtt Line
Available Credit None, if you make, oo widilional You will pay off the balaned Ancf you will end up ii charges ussig this care and :shown on Nils stalorrierd ini fraying an estimated I

each MONS you pay L. about.. I total of.. IQuestions?
_GM}, the minimum payrnent L _.lrssri!iru 546.3.00 IClick on My Kohrs Chai-ge at Kohls.com a;

Call Customer Service 1-555-564-5747
tf you would like information about crectil counSuling sefuices, callSunday 10:00 AM to 11:00 PM (EST) 1-877-4e9-94V.Monday-Saturday 8:00 AM to 11:00 PM (EST)Automated service is available 24 hours.

i ACCOUNT ACTIVITY 7Transaction Date Transaltion Description Amount
Fees

12(20 LATE FEE
$37.00

TOTAL FEES FOR THIS PERIOD $37.00
Interest Charged12/25 INTEREST CHARGE ON PURCHASES $7.61TOTAL INTEREST CHARGED FOR THIS PERIOD $7.61

2016 Totals Year-To-Date
Total fees charged in 2016 $273.00

Liotat interest cnarged in 2016 $47.49 i
INTEREST CHARGES
YOLP Annual Percentage Rate (APR) is the annual interest rate on your account.
Type of Baiance Annual Percentage Rate (APR) Balance Subject to Interest Charges

Interest Rate
Purchases 22.15%(V) $412.73 $7.61tvj var IM3le Cale

KOHL'S MVC SUMMARY
1Current Kohl's Purchases $280.52 You are only $319.00 away from achieving MVC Status!

Spend a total of $800 by December 31. 2016 to become
a Most Valued Customer (MVC) arid receive even rnore

exclusive offers!
IMPORTANT NEWS —1

YOUR ACCOUNT lS CURRENTLY CLOSED.

NOTICE! SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Name or Address Change?
Would yo:i like to reoeive e-rnall sales notification? Account Number —3-406
Cheok boy and write dorrnation on revc, rse side. Due Date Jan 20, 2017

NINIENTIIINWHAIIINIIITIL Netli Balance $450.18

1Jota! Payment Now Due $328.00
Mail Nis portion wilt, your paymeriI

Kohl's Payment Center 8
PO BOX 2983
MILWAUKEE WI 53201-2983
til'Ithtlill'iliri1)611'11'11PliihrPdhlirlialiiiiPtil Aniduni Paid

NOTE: np rmlmall cueli or gm,.irldiir11111.1.11t11, 11[1.fluiviul,, 11111.."01[11.r.11 Please make check payacie kohEsLn US Dollars000332507 01 AT 0.309 100481927569134P
MARY L SCHNEIDER
2410 W BRIAR LAKE WAY APT 30
OAK CREEK WI 53154-8187
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sufficient to enable the deputy clerk or the statistical clerks in the Administrative Office to determine the nature of suit.  If the cause fits more than one nature of
suit, select the most definitive.

V.  Origin.  Place an “X” in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings.  (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court.  (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.  When the petition
for removal is granted, check this box.

Remanded from Appellate Court.  (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action.  Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened.  (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court.  Use the reopening date as the filing date.

Transferred from Another District.  (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a).  Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict
litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation.  (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.  When this
box is checked, do not check (5) above.

Appeal to District Judge from Magistrate Judgment.  (7) Check this box for an appeal from a magistrate judge’s decision.

VI. Cause of Action.  Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause.  Do not cite jurisdictional statutes
unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553

Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII. Requested in Complaint.  Class Action.  Place an “X” in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.

Demand.  In this space enter the dollar amount (in thousands of dollars) being demanded or indicate other demand such as a preliminary injunction.

Jury Demand.  Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases.  This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases if any.  If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers
and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature.  Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
for the 

Eastern District of Wisconsin 

) 

) 

) 

) 
Plaintiff(s) ) 

v. ) Civil Action No. 

) 

) 

) 

) 
Defendant(s) ) 

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION 

To: (Defendant’s name and address) 

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you receive it) – or 60 days if you are 

the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(a)(2) or (3) – you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or the plaintiff’s attorney, whose 

name and address are: 

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.  

You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

STEPHEN C. DRIES, CLERK OF COURT 

Date: 
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk 
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MARY SCHNEIDER,

17-cv-1734

PROFESSIONAL PLACEMENT SERVICES LLC and 
CAPITAL ONE N.A.

CAPITAL ONE, N.A. 
1680 Capital One Drive 
McLean, Virginia 22102

John D. Blythin 
Ademi & O'Reilly, LLP 
3620 East Layton Avenue 
Cudahy, WI 53110



AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2) 

Civil Action No.  

PROOF OF SERVICE 

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(l)) 
 

 This summons and the attached complaint for (name of individual and title, if any): 

 
 

were received by me on (date)  . 
 

☐  I personally served the summons and the attached complaint on the individual at (place): 

 
 

 on (date)  ; or 
 

☐  I left the summons and the attached complaint at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name) 

 

 , a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
 

on (date)  , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or 
 

☐  I served the summons and the attached complaint on (name of individual)  
 

who is designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)  
 

 on (date)  ; or 
 

☐  I returned the summons unexecuted because  ; or 
 

☐  Other (specify):  
 

 . 
 

My fees are $  for travel and $  for services, for a total of $  
 

 I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

 

 

Date:      

   Server’s signature 

    

 

   Printed name and title 

    

 

 

 

   Server’s address 

 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc.: 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
for the 

Eastern District of Wisconsin 

) 

) 

) 

) 
Plaintiff(s) ) 

v. ) Civil Action No. 

) 

) 

) 

) 
Defendant(s) ) 

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION 

To: (Defendant’s name and address) 

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you receive it) – or 60 days if you are 

the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(a)(2) or (3) – you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or the plaintiff’s attorney, whose 

name and address are: 

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.  

You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

STEPHEN C. DRIES, CLERK OF COURT 

Date: 
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk 
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PROFESSIONAL PLACEMENT SERVICES LLC and 
CAPITAL ONE N.A.

PROFESSIONAL PLACEMENT SERVICES LLC 
c/o CRAIG JOHNSON 
272 North 12th Street 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233
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Ademi & O'Reilly, LLP 
3620 East Layton Avenue 
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Civil Action No.  

PROOF OF SERVICE 

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(l)) 
 

 This summons and the attached complaint for (name of individual and title, if any): 

 
 

were received by me on (date)  . 
 

☐  I personally served the summons and the attached complaint on the individual at (place): 

 
 

 on (date)  ; or 
 

☐  I left the summons and the attached complaint at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name) 

 

 , a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
 

on (date)  , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or 
 

☐  I served the summons and the attached complaint on (name of individual)  
 

who is designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)  
 

 on (date)  ; or 
 

☐  I returned the summons unexecuted because  ; or 
 

☐  Other (specify):  
 

 . 
 

My fees are $  for travel and $  for services, for a total of $  
 

 I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

 

 

Date:      

   Server’s signature 

    

 

   Printed name and title 

    

 

 

 

   Server’s address 

 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc.: 
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